ENCLOSURE
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Advex Corporation License No. 45-16452-01

The following violations were identified during an inspection conducted on
March 27-28, 1985. The Severity Levels were assigned in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C).

10 CFR 34.24 requires a licensee to calibrate each radiation survey meter,
used to conduct physical radiation surveys, at intervals not to exceed three
months.

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not calibrate radiation survey meter
No. 4938, a meter used to conduct physical radiation surveys, between

August 16, 1984 and February 8, 1985, an interval in excess of three
months.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

2. 10 CFR 34 .33(a) forbids a licensee to permit any individual to act as a
radiographer unless, at all times during radiographic operations, each such
individual wears a direct reading pocket dosimeter.

Contrary to the above, on March 27, 1985, the licensee permitted a radio-
grapher, who conducted raa.ographic operations at the Langley Research
Center, to perform operations without having a pocket dosimeter in his
possession.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

Pursuant to 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this office within 30
days of the date of this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
including: (1) admission or denial of the alleged violations; (2) the reasons
for the violations if admitted; (3) the corrective steps which have been taken
and the results achieved; (4) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid
further violations; and (5) the date when full compliance will be achieved.

Security or safeguards information should be submitted as an enclosure to

facilitate withholding it from public disclosure as required by 10 CFR 2.790(d)
or 10 CFR 73.21.
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